IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 18-1366

Upon the Petition of

**THE STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,**

And Concerning

**JANE DOE,
Defendant-Appellant**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BECKY GOETTSCHE,
DISTRICT ASSOCIATE JUDGE**

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert J. Poggenklass
IOWA LEGAL AID
1111 9th Street, Suite 230
Des Moines, IA 50314
Tel: 515-243-1198
Fax: 515-244-4618
Email: rpoggenklass@iowalaw.org
ATTORNEY FOR
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT EXPUNGEMENT CANNOT BE GRANTED IN THIS CASE UNTIL ALL COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY FEES ARE PAID.

Cases

Callender v. Skiles, 591 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 1999)
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, 473 U.S. 432 (1985)
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)
James v. Strange, 407 U.S. 128 (1972)
Johnson v. Bredesen, 624 F.3d 742 (6th Cir. 2010)
Judicial Branch, State Court Adm'r v. Iowa Dist. Court for Linn Cty., 800 N.W.2d 569 (Iowa 2011)
McLaughlin v. Florida, 379 U.S. 184 (1964)
Racing Ass'n of Central Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2004)
Rhoades v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22 (Iowa 2014)
Robinson v. Purkey, 326 F.R.D. 105 (M.D. Tenn. 2018)
State v. Doe, 903 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606 (Iowa 2009)
State v. Huth, 334 N.W.2d 485 (S.D. 1983)
State v. Shuyter, 763 N.W.2d 575 (Iowa 2009)
State v. Snyder, 203 N.W.2d 280 (Iowa 1972)
State v. Williams, 343 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1977)
Tate v. Short, 401 U.S. 395 (1972)
Thomas v. Haslam, 2018 WL 3301648 (M.D. Tenn. July 2, 2018)

Bills and Statutes

2015 Iowa Acts ch. 83, § 1
2016 Acts ch. 1073 §§ 183–84
H.F. 2350 (2016)
Iowa Code § 815.9
Iowa Code § 901C.2
S.F. 385 (2015)

Rules

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101

Articles

Ants Under the Refrigerator? Criminal Justice (Winter 2016)

Bruce Vielmetti, *Wisconsin's criminal expungement rules keep needed workers out of jobs, study says*, MILWAUKEE JOURNAL-SENTINEL (June 8, 2018), <https://www.jsonline.com/story/news/2018/06/06/report-easing-expungement-criminal-records-could-boost-jobs/665374002/>

Lahny R. Silva, *Clean Slate: Expanding Expungements and Pardons for Non-Violent Federal Offenders*, 79 U. CIN. L. REV. 155 (2010)

Legislative Services Agency, Issue Review: Court Debt Collection (January 3, 2018)

Unstitching Scarlet Letters?: Prosecutorial Discretion and Expungement, 86 Fordham L. Rev. 2821 (2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The issue at the heart of this case involves a basic question of equal protection — namely, can the State employ unduly harsh and discriminatory restrictions on expungement for those relying on indigent defense counsel, where such restrictions are absent for those who can afford to retain counsel in the private market.

The Iowa General Assembly enacted Iowa Code § 901C.2, the dismissal-acquittal expungement law, to allow people who were acquitted of criminal charges or whose cases were dismissed to remove those cases from the public record. The statute provides that, “upon application of a defendant ... in a criminal case, the court shall enter an order expunging the record of such criminal case” if the defendant establishes certain criteria listed in the law. One requirement is that all court costs and fees have been paid.

In this case, a district court dismissed both charges against Ms. Doe and assessed court-appointed attorney fees to her. When Ms. Doe applied for expungement, the court denied her motion because the fees have not been paid. This denial violates the equal protection principles recognized in *James v. Strange*, 407 U.S. 128 (1972), which held that a State may not “impose unduly harsh or discriminatory terms merely because the obligation is to the public treasury rather than to a private creditor.” *See also State v. Sluyter*, 763 N.W.2d 575 (Iowa 2009).

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction because the case presents a substantial constitutional question as to the validity of the fee requirement of Iowa Code § 901C.2, and because the case presents a substantial issue of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a)(2)(c). & 6.1101(2)(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a domestic abuse incident nearly a decade ago, on April 29, 2009. Although police were called to investigate an incident in which a witness reported Ms. Doe was held at knife point, they charged her instead. App. 8–9. Ms. Doe’s first court-appointed attorney negotiated an agreement in which the case against her would be dismissed if she completed a family violence service class, which she did. App. 21–22. The State moved to dismiss the case in September 2009 and the court assessed the costs to Ms. Doe. App. 23.

In 2015, six years after Ms. Doe’s case was dismissed, the General Assembly enacted Chapter 901C of the Iowa Code. *See* 2015 Iowa Acts ch. 83, § 1 (adopting this provision); 2016 Acts ch. 1073 §§ 183–84, 188 (making clarifying amendments). Section 901C.2 provides that a defendant in a criminal case may apply for expungement when all charges in the case were dismissed. Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(1). As an additional requirement, expungement will not be granted until “[a]ll court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or

assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid.” Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(2).

In June 2018, Ms. Doe filed a motion to expunge this case under Iowa Code § 901C.2. App. 26–28. The district court set a hearing for June 28, in which both Ms. Doe and the State were represented by counsel and no court reporter was present. App. 30–32. On July 18, the district court entered an order denying the expungement. App. 33–35. The court acknowledged that Ms. Doe had argued that “requiring an indigent person to reimburse attorney fees prior to expungement, unlike an individual who hired their own counsel, violates the Constitution, specifically due process and equal protection.” *Id.* The court rejected the constitutional argument, finding that “Defendant was made aware of reimbursing attorney fees and that expungement could not occur until all fees and assessed costs were paid.” *Id.* The court referenced a “bargain defendant negotiated,” and stated Ms. Doe “has had several years to pay and may still obtain expungement if and when the fees are paid.” *Id.* Ms. Doe noted her timely, pseudonymous appeal to the Iowa Supreme Court on August 9, 2018. App. 38. The district court accepted an amended notice of appeal on August 17, 2018. App. 49.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At 3 a.m. on April 29, 2009, a woman called Des Moines police to respond to a residence on Southwest 3rd Street, where a man held another woman at knife point. App. 8; App. 12. Upon arrival, Officer Andersen received several reports that the man with the knife had fled from an upstairs window. App. 8–10. When officers could not find the man outside, they attempted to enter the residence through the front door, where they encountered Ms. Doe. *Id.* Ms. Doe identified herself as the victim, stood in the entrance, and told the officers she did not want them to come inside. *Id.* After Ms. Doe refused the officers entry multiple times, Officer Andersen reported that she pushed and shoved him to keep the officers from entering. *Id.* The officers grabbed Ms. Doe, forced her arms behind her back, and put her in handcuffs while they searched the residence for the man. *Id.* The officers later noted a small cut on Ms. Doe’s lip and stated they were not sure when the injury occurred. App. 11. Ms. Doe told officers that she sustained the injury to her lip during her struggle to keep the officers out of the residence. *Id.* Inside the residence, the officers found the man hiding in a closet. App. 8.

Ms. Doe told police that the man, with whom she has a child, had gotten a call from another woman, which prompted the dispute. App. 10. Despite what others had told police, Ms. Doe said she had pulled the knife on the man and bitten his finger. *Id.* When the man was questioned, he denied that a knife was used but

acknowledged having been bitten on the finger. *Id.* Officers Andersen and Miller concluded, “It is still unknown why [the man] was hiding from us except that he stated he has had a lot of run ins with the law and was on probation.” *Id.* Officers learned that Ms. Doe had wanted others to tell police that the individual with whom she was fought was someone else. App. 13–14. “As a result of this,” Officer O’Donnell reported, Ms. Doe “was arrested and charged with domestic simple.” *Id.* Police attempted to follow up with the man after the incident but he did not return their phone calls. *Id.*

The man was released but Ms. Doe was charged, by criminal complaint, with one count of domestic abuse assault with a dangerous weapon, Iowa Code § 708.2A(2)(c), an aggravated misdemeanor, and one count of assault on a police officer, Iowa Code § 708.3(A)(4), a serious misdemeanor. App. 10; App. 6–7. On April 29, 2009, the date of the incident and the date she was charged, Ms. Doe requested court-appointed counsel. App. 15. The court ordered a private, court-appointed attorney to represent her. App. 16. In her affidavit, Ms. Doe stated she was a single mother of three children and that her only income was food assistance of \$250 per month. App. 15. On June 3, an assistant county attorney filed a trial information with the same two charges alleged in the preliminary complaint. App. 20. On August 3, Ms. Doe’s first court-appointed attorney filed a motion to withdraw, in which he informed the court that Ms. Doe and the State had reached

an agreement: upon Ms. Doe’s successful completion of a family violence services class by September 15, 2009, the State would dismiss the case against her. App. 21–22. The court approved the withdrawal and appointed a second private attorney to represent Ms. Doe on August 3. *Id.* After Ms. Doe completed the family violence services class, the assistant county attorney filed a notice of intent not to prosecute the case, and the Polk County District Court entered an order of dismissal. App. 23. Costs of the case were assessed to Ms. Doe. *Id.* A request for execution filed in 2014 stated that Ms. Doe’s unpaid court costs for the judgment entered on September 15, 2009 totaled \$718.38. App. 24. There is nothing in the record that suggests the court performed a reasonable ability to pay assessment when it assessed costs to Ms. Doe. As of August 17, 2018, the date this appeal was noted in district court, Ms. Doe still owed \$550.38, all of which is court-appointed attorney fees. App. 47.

Ms. Doe filed a written motion to expunge this case on June 6, 2018. App. 26–28. The district court set a hearing, which was held on June 28. App. 30–32. On July 18, the district court entered an order denying the expungement. App. 33–35. The district court found, among other things, that Ms. Doe “may still obtain expungement if and when the fees are paid.” *Id.* Ms. Doe noted her timely appeal to the Iowa Supreme Court on August 9, 2018 and the district court accepted her amended appeal on August 17, 2018. App. 38; App. 49. In her affidavit in support

of filing this appeal without prepayment of fees, Ms. Doe stated under penalty of perjury that she receives monthly food assistance of \$500, and \$426 monthly from the Family Investment Program to support two children and a third that was due in August 2018. App. 36–37. She further stated that her monthly expenses are estimated at \$1,445 per month. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

Only two years ago, criminal defendants in Iowa who were acquitted or whose charges were dismissed gained the ability to remove those cases from the public record. The dismissal-acquittal expungement law, Iowa Code § 901C.2, represents an enormous opportunity for people with criminal records to remove significant barriers to employment. A law that removes barriers to employment will have its greatest impact on individuals who have little or no income, such as Ms. Doe.

That same law provides that a person who was acquitted of all criminal charges or whose case was dismissed must first pay all costs assessed to her by the court before she can expunge the case. In this case, the only costs owed are court-appointed attorney fees. Under a strict statutory construction, the district court found that Ms. Doe cannot expunge this case until she pays her attorney bill.

Ms. Doe does not dispute the validity of the court-appointed attorney fee debt, although there is no evidence that an ability to pay determination was made at the time that debt was assessed. Nothing except her indigency prohibits the State from recouping these fees, even if the case is expunged. Ms. Doe challenges only the discriminatory effect of the court debt — namely, the barrier against expungement of her dismissed criminal case.

Equal protection demands that a State cannot treat a poor person differently because her debt is to the State, rather than to a private creditor. If Ms. Doe had been able to hire the same private attorneys who represented her in this case, she would owe that bill to them, rather than to the State. Those attorneys could not deny Ms. Doe the ability to expunge this case because of that bill. But because Ms. Doe could not afford an attorney, she owes her attorney bill to the State. Now the State has told her that because of her poverty, she cannot expunge her dismissed case.

If a law places a greater burden on someone who could not afford an attorney than it does on someone who can, the law violates equal protection. The Iowa Constitution and United States Constitution require that Ms. Doe be treated the same as any other criminal defendant, regardless of whether she could afford an attorney. Equal protection requires that she be allowed to expunge this case, even if she still owes the State a debt for her attorneys' services.

I. Iowa Code 901C.2's Fee Requirement Violates the Equal Protection Clause by Denying Expungement to Indigent Defendants who have Unpaid Court-Appointed Attorney Fees

Preservation of Error and Scope of Review

Ms. Doe preserved error in her Motion to Expunge, which cites Iowa Code § 901C.2 and the equal protection clauses of the Iowa Constitution and United States Constitution.

The district court's order denying Ms. Doe's expungement request presents issues of statutory interpretation, which are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *Rhoades v. State*, 848 N.W.2d 22, 26 (Iowa 2014). The standard of review for constitutional claims is de novo. *Callender v. Skiles*, 591 N.W.2d 182, 185 (Iowa 1999).

Discussion

A. IOWA'S DISMISSAL-ACQUITTAL EXPUNGEMENT LAW REQUIRES PAYMENT OF COURT-IMPOSED FEES

On May 1, 2015, the dismissal-acquittal expungement bill became law. S.F. 385 (2015). Previously, acquitted defendants and defendants whose criminal charges had been dismissed had tried to remove such records from public view, but those efforts were unsuccessful for lack of a proper statutory expungement tool or a constitutional right to expungement. *See, e.g., Judicial Branch, State Court*

Adm'r v. Iowa Dist. Court for Linn Cty., 800 N.W.2d 569, 579 (Iowa 2011). The dismissal-acquittal expungement law took effect on January 1, 2016. The current, amended version was approved April 6, 2016 and took effect on July 1, 2016. H.F. 2350 (2016).

Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a) states, in relevant part:

Except as provided in paragraph “b”, upon application of a defendant or a prosecutor in a criminal case, or upon the court’s own motion in a criminal case, the court shall enter an order expunging the record of such criminal case if the court finds that the defendant has established that all of the following have occurred, as applicable: (1) The criminal case contains one or more criminal charges in which an acquittal was entered for all criminal charges, or in which all criminal charges were otherwise dismissed. (2) All court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk of the district court have been paid.

Iowa Code § 901C.2. In its first opportunity to review the new law, the Iowa Supreme Court considered the question of what constitutes a criminal case under Iowa Code § 901C.2(1)(a)(1). *State v. Doe*, 903 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 2017). This case asks whether the record clearing intent and effect of the law can be denied indigent defendants because of their indigency.

B. EQUAL PROTECTION PRECLUDES THE STATE FROM IMPOSING HARSH OR DISCRIMINATORY TERMS ON INDIGENT DEFENDANTS

The Equal Protection Clause “is essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike.” *City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center*, 473 U.S. 432, 439 (1985). Whether this standard has been met in situations where there is no suspect class nor fundamental rights implicated, is measured by a rational basis test. The standard under the United States Constitution has been “whether the classifications drawn in a statute are reasonable in light of its purpose.” *McLaughlin v. Florida*, 379 U.S. 184, 191 (1964).

Although the Equal Protection analysis under the Iowa Constitution has been like that under the U.S. Constitution, Iowa has taken a somewhat more critical view of the statutes being analyzed, applying a more rigorous test. “Although equal protection does not demand that a statute apply equally to all persons, it does require that persons similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purpose of the law receive like treatment.” *Racing Ass’n of Central Iowa v. Fitzgerald*, 675 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2004) (citing *Bierkamp v. Rogers*, 293 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 1980)). As the court stated in *Racing Ass’n*, 675 N.W.2d at 9:

Our prior cases illustrate that, although the rational basis standard of review is admittedly deferential to legislative judgment, “ ‘it is not a toothless one’ ” in Iowa. *Mathews v. de Castro*, 429 U.S. 181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 434, 50 L.Ed.2d 389, 394 (1976) (citation omitted); *accord Fed. Land Bank*, 426 N.W.2d at 156 (recognizing the “deferential scrutiny” accorded the state “in the realm of economic policy and regulation,” but stating that “even in the economic sphere, a citizen’s guarantee of equal protection is violated if desirable legislative goals are achieved by the state through wholly arbitrary classifications or otherwise invidious discrimination”); *Bierkamp*, 293

N.W.2d at 581 (noting court’s “considerable deference to the judgment of the legislature ... is not, in and of itself, necessarily dispositive”).

Under either the federal or state constitutional standard, the requirement under the statute that all fees, including court-appointed attorney fees, must be paid before a dismissed case can be expunged violates equal protection.

Gideon v. Wainwright established that indigent criminal defendants in state courts have the right to the effective assistance of defense counsel. 372 U.S. 335 (1963). Not long after *Gideon*, states began enacting laws to recoup the costs of providing court-appointed counsel. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 815.9. Of the \$731.9 million owed in Iowa court debt as of June 30, 2017, \$167.6 million — almost a quarter — was owed for indigent defense fee reimbursement. Legislative Services Agency, Issue Review: Court Debt Collection 4 (January 3, 2018), available at <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/IR/916685.pdf>.

Although *Gideon* established the groundwork of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, subsequent cases involving the recoupment of indigent defense fees implicated the Equal Protection Clause. One of the first cases to analyze state recoupment methods was *James v. Strange*, 407 U.S. 128 (1972). Under the Kansas Aid to Indigent Defendants Act, the state of Kansas sought to recoup delinquent court-appointed attorney fees by placing a lien on any real estate owned by an indigent defendant. When the state pursued such a debt by execution and

garnishment, however, the Kansas law disallowed the indigent defendant the benefit of all the normal debtor's exemptions, except the homestead exemption. *Id.* at 131. The Court focused on the law's different treatment of indigent defendants and those who have hired their own counsel. "Should the latter prove unable to pay and a judgment be obtained against him, his obligation would become enforceable under the relevant provisions of the Kansas Code of Civil Procedure. But, unlike the indigent under the recoupment statute, the code's exemptions would protect this judgment debtor." *Id.* at 136–37.

In striking down the Kansas law, the United States Supreme Court held that a State may not "impose unduly harsh or discriminatory terms merely because the obligation is to the public treasury rather than to a private creditor." *Strange*, 407 U.S. at 138. In finding that the Kansas statute failed a rational basis test, the *Strange* Court stated that the "Equal Protection Clause 'imposes a requirement of some rationality in the nature of the class singled out'" and that "[t]his requirement is lacking where, as in the instant case, the State has subjected indigent defendants to such discriminatory conditions of repayment." *Id.* at 140. For a state "to impose these harsh conditions on a class of debtors who were provided counsel as required by the Constitution is to practice ... a discrimination which the Equal Protection Clause proscribes." *Id.* at 140–41.

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