IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 18-1366

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JANE DOE,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HON. BECKY GOETTSCH, DISTRICT ASSOCIATE JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

LEVI GROVE
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Requiring Repayment of Court Costs and Appointed Attorney Fees Before Granting Expungement Does Not Violate Any Equal Protection Guarantee.**

Preservation of Error

This argument was raised in Doe’s motion to expunge and ruled upon by the district court. *See* Order (7/18/18) at 1–2; App. 33–34; Motion to Expunge (6/6/18); App. 26. That ruling preserved error. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Standard of Review

A ruling on an equal protection challenge is reviewed de novo. *See State v. Mitchell*, 757 N.W.2d 431, 434 (Iowa 2008) (quoting *State v. Carter*, 733 N.W.2d 333, 335 (Iowa 2007)). As a general rule, “statutes are cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality”—and to prevail, a challenger “must prove the [statute’s] unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt.” *See State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 2005) (quoting *State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2002)). Additionally, “if the statute may be construed in more than one way, we adopt the construction that does not violate the constitution.” *See Mitchell*, 757 N.W.2d at 434 (quoting *Carter*, 733 N.W.2d at 335); *see also Seering*, 701 N.W.2d at 661 (quoting *Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d at 233).

Merits

The State shares Doe’s desire to make expungement of records available to as many Iowans as possible. But the legislature crafted this specific set of conditions for expungement, and every word of the statutory enactment must be given force. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 4.4(2). The responsibility and the authority to balance the competing policy priorities surrounding expungement belongs to the legislature alone—it does not belong to the judiciary, to appellate advocates, or to Doe.

Doe’s challenge fails because she alleges disparate impact, not disparate treatment. Additionally, even if this Court views Doe’s claim as an allegation of disparate treatment, it would still be problematic because it concerns two groups that are not similarly situated. Finally, even if this claim were cognizable, the challenged statutes would only be subject to rational basis review, which they would survive.

A. Doe alleges that section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) has a disparate impact, but her equal protection claim does not allege disparate treatment. As a result, there cannot be an equal protection problem.

An equal protection challenge “requires an allegation of disparate treatment, not merely disparate impact.” *See King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 24 (Iowa 2012). Doe argues that indigent defendants owe additional costs arising out of section 815.9, which states:

If a person is granted an appointed attorney, the person shall be required to reimburse the state for the total cost of legal assistance provided to the person pursuant to this section. . . .

[. . .]

If the person receiving legal assistance is acquitted in a criminal case or is a party in a case other than a criminal case, the court shall order the payment of all or a portion of the total costs and fees incurred for legal assistance, to the extent the person is reasonably able to pay, after an inquiry which includes notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard.

Iowa Code §§ 815.9(3), (6). Doe is correct that a showing of indigency is required before appointing counsel for a defendant, and that costs and fees incurred by appointed attorneys must be repaid “to the extent the person is reasonably able to pay” before an expungement can be granted. *See* Iowa Code §§ 815.9(6), 901C.2(1)(a)(2). But this is only sufficient to establish a disparate impact on indigent defendants, not differential treatment—no defendant can obtain expungement of their record without repaying *all* costs and fees, irrespective of their origin. *See, e.g., White-Ciluffo v. Iowa Dep’t. of Educ.*, No. 16–0309, 2017 WL 2469216, at *7 (Iowa Ct. App. June 7, 2017) (rejecting plaintiff’s equal protection challenge because she “failed to show the Collegiate Rule treats any high school student-athlete differently from any other high school student-athlete” because “all high school student-athletes are subject to eligibility rules such as the Collegiate Rule”).

The interesting part of Doe’s challenge is her argument that only indigent defendants need to repay this specific cost associated with appointed attorneys. To Doe, this means including these costs within the requirement created by section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) qualifies as disparate treatment of indigent defendants. *See* Def’s Br. at 13–15, 25. But this only establishes a disparate impact from another provision that operates independently of the expungement statute. Nothing in section 901C.2 can be construed to single out indigent defendants or to treat expungements differently based on types of costs/fees owed. *See* Iowa Code § 901C.2. For that reason, American courts generally reject similar challenges to analogous expungement statutes. *See, e.g. People v. Covington*, 98 Cal.Rptr.2d 852, 857–58 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000) (rejecting similar equal protection claim because “[e]qual protection means only that Covington can have her conviction expunged, the same as the wealthier defendant in her hypothetical, if and when she pays restitution”); *State v. Hanes*, 79 P.3d 1070, 1070–72 (Idaho Ct. App. 2003) (rejecting similar equal protection claim when statute required total compliance with terms of probation as condition for expungement, and defendant had repeatedly “failed to make timely payments for his restitution and costs of probation supervision”).

Disparate impact without disparate treatment cannot prove an equal protection violation. *See State v. Mann*, 602 N.W.2d 785, 792 (Iowa 1999) (quoting *State v. Hall*, 227 N.W.2d 192, 194 (Iowa 1975)) (noting that a challenged policy “does not deny equal protection simply because in practice it results in some inequality; practical problems in government permit rough accommodation”). Because section 901C.2 applies equally to anyone who is seeking expungement and still owes “court costs, fees, and other financial obligations ordered by the court or assessed by the clerk,” Doe cannot establish disparate treatment. At best, Doe can establish disparate impact—but that is not sufficient to state a cognizable equal protection challenge.

B. Applicants who have repaid all costs and fees and applicants who have not yet repaid costs or fees are not similarly situated.

“[E]qual protection demands that laws treat alike all people who are similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purposes of the law.” *McQuiston v. City of Clinton*, 872 N.W.2d 817, 830 (Iowa 2015) (quoting *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 882 (Iowa 2009)). Doe has not repaid all costs and fees ordered by the district court, so she is not similarly situated to applicants for expungement who *have* repaid those debts. *See Motion to Expunge (6/6/18) at 4; App. 29.*

Doe’s equal protection challenge alleges that section 901C.2 draws a classification based on indigency. *See* Def’s Br. at 13–15. But indigent defendants who waive their right to counsel or whose cases were dismissed before appointed counsel rendered billable services have no obligation to pay for counsel’s services. Moreover, indigency is a broad category that, for these purposes, encompasses all defendants with “an income level at or below [125%]” of the poverty line and who are not otherwise “able to pay for the cost of an attorney” during the pendency of the prosecution. *See* Iowa Code § 815.9(1)(a). It may also include defendants with higher incomes, if not appointing counsel “would cause the person substantial hardship.” *Id.* § 815.9(1)(b)–(c). When acquitted, each indigent defendant is entitled to “an inquiry which includes notice and reasonable opportunity to be heard” to help determine how much of the total costs and fees “the person is reasonably able to pay.” *Id.* § 815.9(6); *see also State v. Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d 606, 613–15 (Iowa 2009) (determining that prior version of section 815.9 was unconstitutional because “[a] cost judgment may not be constitutionally imposed on a defendant unless a determination is first made that the defendant is or will be reasonably able to pay”). So, applicants must have been found reasonably able to pay those costs

(even if they do so by making small payments over a period of time) and may seek expungement after payment is made, notwithstanding their past or present indigency. *See, e.g., United States v. Ledbetter*, No. 92-30212, 1993 WL 280403, at *2–3 (9th Cir. July 26, 1993) (rejecting an equal protection challenge alleging that “Washington’s restoration statute requiring restitution for issuance of discharge certificates violates the equal protection rights of indigents” because “there is no indication that [defendant] could not have paid the rather nominal sums had he made the effort to do so by obtaining gainful employment or obtaining money in some other lawful way”).

In reality, the classification drawn by section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) is between applicants who have paid all their outstanding costs and fees (including costs and fees for appointed counsel, to the extent they are found reasonably able to pay), and those who are ineligible because they were ordered to pay costs or fees (perhaps for services rendered by appointed counsel, after being found reasonably able to pay them) and subsequently did not pay them. Doe seeks to frame this as a challenge to a classification that distinguishes on the basis of wealth—but wealth does not guarantee eligibility under section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) and indigency does not preclude it (especially after *Dudley*). *See, e.g.,*

State v. Colbert, No. 2015AP1880–CR, 2017 WL 5054306, at *2–3 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 1, 2017) (rejecting similar constitutional challenge arguing “denying expungement based on unpaid supervision fees may violate equal protection if the probationer is financially unable to pay” because “Colbert never actually asserts that he could not pay the \$220 supervision fee”). These two different categories of applicants—those who have outstanding obligations to pay reasonable costs or fees, and those who fulfilled all relevant payment obligations—are not similarly situated for the purposes of seeking expungement.

If a challenger “cannot show as a preliminary matter that they are similarly situated” to someone else receiving different treatment, “courts do not further consider whether their different treatment under a statute is permitted under the equal protection clause.” *See Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 882; *see also Timberland Partners XXI, LLP v. Iowa Dept. of Revenue*, 757 N.W.2d 172, 176–77 (Iowa 2008) (rejecting an equal protection challenge to distinctions between apartments/condominiums for tax assessment purposes because “any similarities between apartments and condominiums are insufficient to consider them ‘similarly situated’ for equal protection analysis”). As such, Doe’s equal protection challenge should proceed no further.

C. If this challenge to section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) presents a cognizable equal protection claim, then it fails on its merits.

Even if section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) is subjecting similarly situated applicants to disparate treatment, there is no constitutional infirmity.

1. Rational basis review applies to this challenge.

“Unless a suspect class or a fundamental right is at issue, equal protection claims are reviewed under the rational basis test.” *See King*, 818 N.W.2d at 25. Doe suggests “a heightened form of scrutiny” may apply. *See* Def’s Br. at 24. But Doe’s citations to *State v. Shuyter*, 763 N.W.2d 575 (Iowa 2009) and *State v. Snyder*, 203 N.W.2d 280 (Iowa 1972) are inapposite because both of those cases involved a fundamental right—the policies at issue in both *Shuyter* and *Snyder* deprived indigent litigants of freedom from incarceration. *See Shuyter*, 763 N.W.2d at 584 (noting potential equal protection problem where “[e]nforcement of the cost judgment by contempt allows the State to bypass all the protections enjoyed by civil judgment debtors under our execution and related statutes and send Shuyter directly to jail”); *Snyder*, 203 N.W.2d at 290 (quoting *Frazier v. Jordan*, 457 F.2d 726, 728 (5th Cir. 1972)) (“[T]he alternative fine before us creates two disparately treated classes: those who can satisfy a fine immediately

upon its levy, and those who can pay only over a period of time, if then. Those with means avoid imprisonment; the indigent cannot escape imprisonment. Since the difference in treatment is one defined by wealth, the alternative fine creates a ‘suspect’ classification which must be tested by the compelling state interest test.”). But denial of expungement is not tantamount to imprisonment, nor does it amount to deprivation of any other fundamental right. *See Judicial Branch, State Court Adm’r v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Linn County*, 800 N.W.2d 569, 579 (Iowa 2011) (“Persons who have had criminal proceedings terminated in their favor are not a suspect class. Nor do we believe that making records of court proceedings available burdens a fundamental right.”), *superseded by* Iowa Code § 901C.2 (2015); *cf. Sealed Appellant v. Sealed Appellee*, 130 F.3d 695, 699 (5th Cir. 1997) (“There is no constitutional basis for a ‘right to expungement.’”); *Duke v. White*, 616 F.2d 955, 956 (6th Cir. 1980) (“The right to expungement of state records is not a federal constitutional right.”); *Arnold v. State*, 384 S.W.2d 488, 495 (Ark. 2011) (noting “there is no constitutional right to expungement of a conviction”); *State v. Granger*, 982 So.2d 779, 790–95 (La. 2008) (applying rational basis review to equal protection challenge to Louisiana’s expungement statutes).

In *Dudley*, the Iowa Supreme Court noted that “the statute governing recoupment of the costs of legal assistance does not affect a fundamental right or classify on the basis of race, alienage, national origin, gender, or legitimacy”—and, therefore, it was “subject to a rational-basis review.” *See Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d at 615; *cf. Thomas v. Fellows*, 456 N.W.2d 170, 172 (Iowa 1990) (“We believe that section 668.11 does not abridge the plaintiffs’ right of access to the courts; it merely establishes reasonable procedural requirements in the exercise of that right. We therefore reject the plaintiffs’ strict scrutiny argument and apply the traditional ‘rational basis’ test.”). There is no basis for applying a more demanding review for this challenge, which neither draws a suspect classification nor burdens a fundamental right.

2. *Section 901C.2(1)(b)(2) is rationally related to legitimate government interests in limiting expungement where outstanding debts remain.*

Under rational-basis review, a statute “will be sustained if the classification drawn by the statute is rationally related to a legitimate state interest.” *Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d at 615 (quoting *Sanchez v. State*, 692 N.W.2d 812, 817 (Iowa 2005)). To prevail, Doe must prove that “the relationship between the classification and the purpose behind it is so weak the classification must be viewed as arbitrary or capricious.”

See King, 818 N.W.2d at 27–28 (quoting *Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255, 259 (Iowa 2007)). To do so, Doe must “negate every reasonable basis upon which the classification may be sustained.” *See id.* at 28 (quoting *Bierkamp v. Rogers*, 293 N.W.2d 577, 579–80 (Iowa 1980)). Doe cannot make that showing because this eligibility classification in section 901C.2 is rationally related to legitimate state interests in incentivizing repayment of costs and fees.

Doe is correct that “[o]f the \$731.9 million owed in Iowa court debt as of June 30, 2017, \$167.6 million—almost a quarter—was owed for indigent defense fee reimbursement.” Def’s Br. at 19 (citing Legis. Serv. Agency, *Issue Review: Court Debt Collection*, at 4 (Jan. 3, 2018), <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/docs/publications/IR/916685.pdf>). That same report observes: “It is important for fines, penalties, court costs, fees, forfeited bail, and surcharges to be paid as quickly as possible. The longer the delay, the less likely it is that the defendant will pay.” *See* Legis. Serv. Agency, *Issue Review: Court Debt Collection*, at 15. By conditioning the availability of expungement on the repayment of costs and fees, the legislature has crafted an incentive that encourages repayment of outstanding debt (which becomes available at 180 days after acquittal/dismissal, when it may be necessary to jog memories).

Collecting outstanding indigent defense fee reimbursement fees is a legitimate state interest that the legislature may consider and pursue, and section 901C.2(1)(a)(2) is rationally related to that state interest. The legislature could rationally conclude that conditional availability of expungement was the best incentive to offer to motivate repayment of indigent defense fees after an acquittal/dismissal.

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